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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
Richard Allen Academy II Community School  
Montgomery County 
184 Salem Avenue 
Dayton, Ohio  45406 
 
To the Governing Board: 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Richard Allen Academy II Community School, 
Montgomery County, Ohio (the School), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2015, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the School’s basic financial statements as 
listed in the table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for preparing and fairly presenting these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes designing, 
implementing, and maintaining internal control relevant to preparing and fairly presenting financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor's Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to opine on these financial statements based on our audit.  We audited in accordance 
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the financial audit 
standards in the Comptroller General of the United States’ Government Auditing Standards.  Those 
standards require us to plan and perform the audit to reasonably assure the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement. 
 
An audit requires obtaining evidence about financial statement amounts and disclosures.  The procedures 
selected depend on our judgment, including assessing the risks of material financial statement 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  In assessing those risks, we consider internal control 
relevant to the School’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not to the extent needed to opine on the 
effectiveness of the School’s internal control.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of management’s accounting policies and the reasonableness of 
their significant accounting estimates, as well as our evaluation of overall financial statement 
presentation. 
 
We believe the audit evidence we obtained is sufficient and appropriate to support our opinion. 
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Basis for Qualified Opinion 
 
The School’s Management Company did not provide a total payroll listing for all employees or the 
Management Company’s general ledger.  This resulted in us not being able to gain assurance regarding 
the accuracy of the contribution amounts used to calculate the School’s net pension liability.  The net 
pension liability included in the School’s basic financial statements represents 100 percent, 87 percent, 
100 percent and 13 percent of the deferred outflows, liabilities, deferred inflows and expenses, 
respectively, of the School’s financial statements. 
 
Qualified Opinion 
 
In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion 
paragraph, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the  Richard Allen Academy II Community School, Montgomery County, Ohio (the School), as 
of and for the year ended June 30, 2015,and the respective changes in financial position and cash flows 
thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
As discussed in Note 18 to the financial statements, during the year ended June 30, 2015, the School 
adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial 
Reporting for Pensions – an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27 and also GASB Statement No. 71, 
Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date.  We did not modify our 
opinion regarding this matter. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require this presentation to 
include Management’s discussion and analysis, and schedules of net pension liabilities and pension 
contributions listed in the table of contents, to supplement the basic financial statements.  Although this 
information is not part of the basic financial statements, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
considers it essential for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, 
or historical context.  We applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, consisting of 
inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information 
for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries to the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not opine or provide 
any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient 
evidence to opine or provide any other assurance. 
 
Supplementary and Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted to opine on the School’s basic financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
The Schedule of Federal Awards Expenditures presents additional analysis as required by the U.S. Office 
of Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit 
Organizations and is also not a required part of the financial statements. 
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The schedule is management’s responsibility, and derives from and relates directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  We subjected the schedule 
to the auditing procedures we applied to the basic financial statements.  We also applied certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling the schedule directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial 
statements themselves in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  In our opinion, this schedule is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic 
financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
January 10, 2017, on our consideration of the School’s internal control over financial reporting and our 
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and 
other matters.  That report describes the scope of our internal control testing over financial reporting and 
compliance, and the results of that testing, and does not opine on internal control over financial reporting 
or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards in considering the School’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dave Yost 
Auditor of State 
Columbus, Ohio 
 
January 10, 2017 
 

rakelly
Dave Yost
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Our discussion and analysis of Richard Allen Academy II Community School (the School) financial 
performance provides an overall review of the Schools’ financial activities for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2015.  The intent of this discussion and analysis is to look at the School’s financial performance 
as a whole; readers should also review the basic financial statements and notes to the basic financial 
statements to enhance their understanding of the School’s financial performance. 
 
Financial Highlights 
 
Key financial highlights for fiscal year 2015 are as follows: 
 
 Total net position increased $119,612 from 2014.  
 Total liabilities decreased $214,296 or 5.9% while total assets increased $323,091, or 97.6% from 

2014. 
 Total revenue decreased from $3,569,124 in fiscal year 2014 to $ 3,024,946 in fiscal year 2015, a 

15% decrease. 
 Total expenses decreased from $ 3,329,425 in fiscal year 2014 to $ 2,905,334 in fiscal year 2015, a 

13% decrease from 2014. 
 Net Pension Liability decreased $561,805 which is offset by an increase of $417,507 in Deferred 

Inflows 
 
Using this Financial Report 
 
This report consists of three parts, the MD&A, the basic financial statements, and notes to those 
statements.  The basic financial statements include a Statement of Net Position, a Statement of 
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position, and a Statement of Cash Flows. 
 
These statements report the School’s Net Position 
and changes in those assets.  This change in Net 
Position is important because it tells the reader 
whether the financial position of the School has 
improved or diminished.  The causes of this change 
may be the result of many factors, some financial, 
some not.  Non-financial factors include the School’s 
student enrollment, per-pupil funding as determined 
by the State of Ohio, change in technology, required 
educational programs and other factors. 
 
The School uses enterprise presentation for all of its activities. 
 
Statement of Net Position 
 
The Statement of Net Position answers the question of how the School did financially during 2015.  This 
statement includes all assets deferred inflows of resources and liabilities deferred outflows of resources, 
both financial and capital, and short-term and long-term using the accrual basis of accounting and 
economic resources focus, which is similar to the accounting used by most private-sector companies.  
This basis of accounting takes into account all revenues and expenses during the year, regardless of 
when the cash is received or paid. 
 
Table 1 provides a summary of the School’s Net Position as of June 30, 2015 compared to the prior year. 
 

 $(4,000,000)

 $(2,000,000)

 $‐

 $2,000,000

 $4,000,000

 $6,000,000

Total Assets Total Liabilities Total Net Position

Statement  of Net Position
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(Table 1) 
Statement of Net Position 

2015 
Restated 

2014 
Assets: 
  Current Assets $654,094 $331,003 
  Non-Current Assets,  
Total Assets 654,094 331,003 
Deferred Outflows: 
  Pension Requirements 308,106 308,374 
Liabilities: 
  Current Liabilities 437,728 90,219 
  Long Term Liabilities 2,958,957 3,520,762 
Total Liabilities 3,396,685 3,610,981 
Deferred Inflows: 
  Pension Requirements 1,039,507 622,000 
Net Position: 
  Unrestricted (3,473,992) (3,593,604) 
Total Net Position ($3,473,992) ($3,593,604) 

 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 
 
Table 2 shows the changes in Net 
Position for fiscal year 2015, as well as 
a listing of revenues and expenses.  
This change in Net Position is 
important because it tells the reader 
that, for the school as a whole, the 
financial position of the school has 
improved or diminished.  The cause of 
this may be the result of many factors, 
some financial, some not.  Non-
financial factors include the current 
laws in Ohio restricting revenue 
growth, facility conditions, required 
educational programs and other 
factors. 
 
Total assets increased in 2015 by $323,091 due to increased receivables. Liabilities decreased by 
$214,296 and Net Position increased $119,612 in 2015.  Liabilities decreased primarily due to changes in 
net pension liabilities. 
 
Table 2 shows change in Net Position for fiscal year 2015 compared with fiscal year 2014. 
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(Table 2) 
Change in Net Position 

2015 2014 
Operating Revenue: 
  State Aid $2,364,204 $2,703,654 
  Casino Aid 17,538 21,189 
  Facilities Funding 28,839 34,553 
  Other Operating Revenue 3,794 2,205 
Non-Operating Revenue: 
  Federal and State Grants 610,571 595,846 
  Gain on Disposition of Assets/Liabilities 211,677 
Total Revenues 3,024,946 $3,569,124 
Operating Expenses: 
  Purchased Services 2,748,440 3,165,169 
  Sponsorship Fees 70,958 81,407 
  Legal 26,293 20,947 
  Auditing and Accounting 20,445 42,809 
  Board of Education 10,703 6,613 
  Depreciation 12,227 
  Miscellaneous 23,139 253 
Non-Operating Expenses:   
  Interest and Fiscal Charges 5,356  
Total Expenses 2,905,334 3,329,425 

Change in Net Position $119,612 $239,699 
 
The revenue generated by a community school is almost entirely dependent on per-pupil allotment given 
by the state foundation and federal entitlement program receipts.  Foundation and federal entitlement 
revenues made up 98% of all revenues for the School in fiscal year 2015.  Revenues decreased due to 
the reduced foundation funds. 
 
During 2015, the School adopted GASB Statement 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Pensions—an Amendment of GASB Statement 27, which significantly revises accounting for pension 
costs and liabilities.  For reasons discussed below, many end users of this financial statement will gain a 
clearer understanding of the School’s actual financial condition by adding deferred inflows related to 
pension and the net pension liability to the reported net position and subtracting deferred outflows related 
to pension. 
 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board standards are national and apply to all government financial 
reports prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  When accounting for 
pension costs, GASB 27 focused on a funding approach.  This approach limited pension costs to 
contributions annually required by law, which may or may not be sufficient to fully fund each plan’s net 
pension liability.  GASB 68 takes an earnings approach to pension accounting; however, the nature of 
Ohio’s statewide pension systems and state law governing those systems requires additional explanation 
in order to properly understand the information presented in these statements. 
 
Under the new standards required by GASB 68, the net pension liability equals the School’s proportionate 
share of each plan’s collective: 
 

1. Present value of estimated future pension benefits attributable to active and inactive employees’ 
past service 

2. Minus plan assets available to pay these benefits 
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GASB notes that pension obligations, whether funded or unfunded, are part of the “employment 
exchange” – that is, the employee is trading his or her labor in exchange for wages, benefits, and the 
promise of a future pension.  GASB noted that the unfunded portion of this pension promise is a present 
obligation of the government, part of a bargained-for benefit to the employee, and should accordingly be 
reported by the government as a liability since they received the benefit of the exchange.  However, the 
School is not responsible for certain key factors affecting the balance of this liability.  In Ohio, the 
employee shares the obligation of funding pension benefits with the employer.  Both employer and 
employee contribution rates are capped by State statute.  A change in these caps requires action of both 
Houses of the General Assembly and approval of the Governor.  Benefit provisions are also determined 
by State statute.  The employee enters the employment exchange with the knowledge that the employer’s 
promise is limited not by contract but by law.  The employer enters the exchange also knowing that there 
is a specific, legal limit to its contribution to the pension system. In Ohio, there is no legal means to 
enforce the unfunded liability of the pension system as against the public employer. State law operates to 
mitigate/lessen the moral obligation of the public employer to the employee, because all parties enter the 
employment exchange with notice as to the law.  The pension system is responsible for the administration 
of the plan. 
 
Most long-term liabilities have set repayment schedules or, in the case of compensated absences (i.e., 
sick and vacation leave), are satisfied through paid time-off or termination payments.  There is no 
repayment schedule for the net pension liability.  As explained above, changes in pension benefits, 
contribution rates, and return on investments affect the balance of the net pension liability, but are outside 
the control of the local government. In the event that contributions, investment returns, and other changes 
are insufficient to keep up with required pension payments, State statute does not assign/identify the 
responsible party for the unfunded portion.  Due to the unique nature of how the net pension liability is 
satisfied, this liability is separately identified within the long-term liability section of the statement of net 
position. 
 
In accordance with GASB 68, the School’s statements prepared on an accrual basis of accounting 
include an annual pension expense for their proportionate share of each plan’s change in net pension 
liability not accounted for as deferred inflows/outflows of resources. 
 
As a result of implementing GASB 68, the School is reporting a net pension liability and deferred 
inflows/outflows of resources related to pension on the accrual basis of accounting.  This implementation 
also had the effect of restating net position at June 30, 2014, from $240,784 to ($3,593,604). 
 
The information necessary to restate the 2014 beginning balances and the 2014 pension expense 
amounts for the effects of the initial implementation of GASB 68 is not available.  Therefore, 2014 
expenses still include pension expense of $308,379 computed under GASB 27.  GASB 27 required 
recognizing pension expense equal to the contractually required contributions to the plan.  Under GASB 
68, pension expense represents additional amounts earned, adjusted by deferred inflows/outflows.  The 
contractually required contribution is no longer a component of pension expense. Under GASB 68, the 
2015 statements report pension expense of $384,661.  Consequently, in order to compare 2015 total 
expenses to 2014, the following adjustments are needed: 
 

Total 2015 expenses under GASB 68 $2,899,978 
Pension expense under GASB 68 (384,661) 
2015 contractually required contribution 279,891 

Adjusted 2015 program expenses 2,795,208 
Total 2014 program expenses under GASB 27 3,329,425 
Decrease in program expenses not related pension ($534,217) 
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Budgeting Highlights 
 
Unlike other public schools located in the State of Ohio, community schools are not required to follow 
budgetary provisions set forth in Ohio Rev. Code Chapter 5705, unless specifically provided in the 
community school’s contract with its sponsor.  The contract between the School and its Sponsor does 
prescribe a budgetary process.  The School has developed a one year spending plan and a five-year 
forecast that is reviewed periodically by the Board.  The five-year forecasts are also submitted to the 
Sponsor and the Ohio Department of Education. 
 
Capital Assets and Debt Administration 
 
Capital Assets 
 
At the end of fiscal year 2015, the School had $0 in capital assets (see note 4). 
 
Debt 
 
At June 30, 2015, the School had $12,500 in notes payable.  See Note 14. 
 
Additionally, the School borrowed $267,800 from Charter School Capital that was discounted by $8,596. 
$259,204 of this line of credit was outstanding at June 30, 2015. See Note 15. 
 
Current Financial Related Activities 
 
The School’s financial outlook over the next several years shows continued growth as enrollment is 
projected to increase.  Enrollment for the school is at 319 students as of November 2015. But, future 
revenue increases are cautious due to Ohio’s weak economic recovery. 
 
Contacting the School’s Financial Management 
 
This financial report is designed to provide all 
citizens, taxpayers, and creditors with a 
general overview of the School’s finances. 
Questions concerning any of the information in 
this report or requests for additional 
information should be directed to Brian G. 
Adams, CFO, Richard Allen Academy II 
Community School, 184 Salem Avenue 
Dayton, Ohio  45406. 
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Assets:
  Current Assets:

Cash and Cash Equivalents $4,790
Accounts Receivable-IMR $483,844
Accounts Receivable-Vendor $4,107
Intergovernmental Receivable $152,397
Security Deposits $8,956

Total Assets 654,094        

Deferred Outflows of Resources:
  Pension Requirements $308,106

Liabilities:
  Current Liabilities:
    Accounts Payable-Vendor $9,139
    Accounts Payable-IMR $156,885
    Line of Credit $259,204
    Notes Payable $12,500
Total Current Liabilities $437,728

Long-Term Liabilities:
  Net Pension Liability $2,958,957
Total Liabilities 3,396,685     

Deferred Inflows of Resources:
  Pension Requirements 1,039,507     

Net Position:
  Unrestricted (3,473,992)   
Total Net Position ($3,473,992)

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements:

JUNE 30, 2015

RICHARD ALLEN ACADEMY II COMMUNITY SCHOOL
MONTGOMERY COUNTY

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
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Operating Revenues:
State Foundation $2,364,204
Casino Aid 17,538
Facilities Funding 28,839
Other Operating 3,794

Total Operating Revenues 2,414,375

Operating Expenses:
Purchased Services 2,748,440
Sponsorship Fees 70,958
Legal 26,293
Auditing and Accounting 20,445
Board of Education 10,703
Miscellaneous 23,139

Total Operating Expenses 2,899,978

Net Operating Income (Loss) (485,603)

Non-Operating Revenue/(Expenses)
Federal and State Grants 610,571
Interest and Fiscal Charges (5,356)

Total Non-Operating Revenue/(Expenses) 605,215

Change in Net Position 119,612

Restated Net Position Beginning of Year (3,593,604)

Net Position End of Year ($3,473,992)

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2015

RICHARD ALLEN ACADEMY II COMMUNITY SCHOOL
MONTGOMERY COUNTY

STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

12



Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Cash Received from State of Ohio $2,406,840
Cash Received from Other Operating Activities 3,794              
Cash Payments to Suppliers for Goods and Services (3,189,836)      

Net Cash Used For Operating Activities (779,202)         

Cash Flows from Non-Capital Financing Activities:
Cash Received from Federal and State Grants 528,064          
Cash Received from Line of Credit 259,204          
Interest and Fiscal Charges (5,356)

Net Cash Provided by Non-Capital Financing Activities 781,912          

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,710              
Cash and Cash Equivalents Beginning of Year 2,080              
Cash and Cash Equivalents End of Year $4,790

Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net
 Cash Used for Operating Activities:
  Operating Loss ($485,603)

  Changes in Assets and Liabilities:
    Accounts Receivable (213,930)         
    Intergovernmental Receivable (23,944)           
    Accounts Payable 88,305            
    Net Pension Liability (1,183,805)      
    Deferred Outflows 268                 
    Deferred Inflows 1,039,507       
Net Cash Used For Operating Activities ($779,202)

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2015

RICHARD ALLEN ACADEMY II COMMUNITY SCHOOL
MONTGOMERY COUNTY

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

13
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  1. DESCRIPTION OF THE ENTITY 
 
Richard Allen Academy II Community School (the School) is a nonprofit corporation established 
pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Chapters 3314 and 1702 to maintain and provide a school 
exclusively for any educational, literary, scientific and related teaching service.  The School, which 
is part of the State’s education program, is independent of any school district.  The School may sue 
and be sued, acquire facilities as needed, and contract for any services necessary for the operation 
of the School. 
 
The School contracts with the Institute of Management and Resources, Inc. (IMR) for a variety of 
services including management consulting, Education Management Information System (EMIS), 
monitoring and consulting, technology and operational support, teacher training, supervision of 
certified and non-certified personnel and assistance in grant applications, and any other services 
requested by the School.  In addition, all employees of the School are IMR employees and are 
subsequently contracted to the School.  (See note 10 for additional detail on the contractual 
relationship between IMR and the School). 

 
The School entered into a Sponsor Contract with the Ohio Department of Education (ODE) on 
July 1, 2013 for a two-year period with the term ending June 30, 2015.  The School renewed its 
contract with ODE in June 2015 for five years, extending it to June 30, 2020. (See note 17). 
 
The School operates under a self-appointing ten-member Board.  The School’s Code of 
Regulations specifies that vacancies that arise on the Board be filled by the appointment of a 
successor trustee by a majority vote of the then existing trustees.  The Board is responsible for 
carrying out the provisions of the contract with the Sponsor which includes but are not limited to, 
state mandated provisions regarding student population, curriculum, academic goals, performance 
standards, admission standards, and qualifications of teachers.  The School’s enrollment of 320 
FTE students for fiscal year 2015 represents a decrease of 55 from the prior year. 

 
 
  2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
The basic financial statements of the School have been prepared in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles as applied to a governmental nonprofit organization.  The 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for 
establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. 
 
A. Basis of Presentation 

 
The School’s basic financial statements consist of a Statement of Net Position, a Statement of 
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position, and a Statement of Cash Flows. 
 
The School uses enterprise accounting to maintain its financial records during the fiscal year. 
Enterprise accounting focuses on the determination of operating income, changes in Net 
Position, financial position, and cash flows.  Enterprise accounting may be used to account for 
any activity for which a fee is charged to external users for goods or services. 

 
B. Measurement Focus/Basis of Accounting 

 
Enterprise accounting uses a flow of economic resources measurement focus. With this 
measurement focus, all assets and deferred outflows and all liabilities and deferred inflows 
associated with the operation of the School are included on the Statement of Net Position. 
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  2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position present increases (e.g., 
revenues) and decreases (e.g., expenses) in total Net Position.  The Statement of Cash Flows 
reflects how the School finances and meets its cash flow needs. 
 
Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenses are recognized in the accounts and 
reported in the financial statements.  The accrual basis of accounting is used for reporting 
purposes.  Revenue resulting from exchange transactions, in which each party gives and 
receives equal value, is recorded on the accrual basis when the exchange takes place. 
Revenue resulting from non-exchange transactions, in which the School receives value without 
directly giving equal value in return, such as grants, entitlements and donations, are recognized 
in the period in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied.  Expenses are recognized 
at the time they are incurred. 

 
C. Budgetary Process 

 
Unlike other public schools located in the State of Ohio, community schools are not required to 
follow budgetary provisions set forth in Ohio Revised Code Chapter 5705, unless specifically 
provided in the School’s contract with its Sponsor.  The contract between the School and the 
Sponsor does not prescribe an annual budget requirement, but sets forth a requirement to 
submit a spending plan each fiscal year.  Furthermore, the School must submit a five-year 
forecast to its Sponsor annually. 

 
D. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
All monies received by the School are maintained in a demand deposit account.  The School 
did not have any investments during fiscal year 2015. 

 
E. Capital Assets and Depreciation  

 
Capital assets are capitalized at cost (or estimated historical cost) and updated for 
additions and retirements during the year.  Donated capital assets are recorded at their fair 
market value as of the date received.  The School maintains a capitalization threshold of 
$1,000.  The School does not have any infrastructure. Improvements are capitalized.  The 
costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or 
materially extend the asset’s life are expensed. 
 
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives of 
five years for leasehold improvements and vehicles, and five to seven years for 
furniture and equipment. Improvements to capital assets are depreciated over the 
remaining useful lives of the related fixed assets. 
 
At the end of fiscal year 2015, the school's capital assets are fully depreciated (see Note 4). 

 
F. Intergovernmental Revenues 

 
The School currently participates in the state foundation program.  Revenues received from 
this program is recognized as operating revenues in the accounting period in which all 
eligibility requirements have been met. 



RICHARD ALLEN ACADEMY II COMMUNITY SCHOOL 
MONTGOMERY COUNTY 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2015 
(Continued) 

 

17 

  2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

Grants and entitlements are recognized as non-operating revenues in the accounting period in 
which all eligibility requirements have been met.  Eligibility requirements include timing 
requirements, which specify the year when the resources are required to be used or the fiscal 
year when use is first permitted, matching requirements, in which the School must provide 
local resources to be used for a specified purpose, and expenditure requirements, in which the 
resources are provided to the school on a reimbursement basis. 

 
The School participates in the Comprehensive Continuous Improvement Planning Program 
through the Ohio Department of Education.  Revenue received from this program is 
recognized as non-operating revenues.   
 
Amounts awarded under the above programs for the 2015 school year totaled $2,974,775. 

 
G. Accrued Liabilities Payable 

 
The School has recognized certain liabilities on its statement of net position relating to 
expenses, which are due but unpaid as of June 30, 2015. 

 
H. Estimates 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain 
reported amounts and disclosures.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

 
I. Net Position 

 
Net Position represents the difference between (all assets plus deferred outflows of resources) 
less (all liabilities, plus deferred inflows of resources).  Net Position invested in capital assets, 
net of related debt consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the 
outstanding balance of any borrowing used for the acquisition, construction, or improvement of 
those assets.  Net Position is reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on 
their use, either through enabling legislation adopted by the School or through external 
restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors, or contracts.  The School applies restricted 
resources first when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and 
unrestricted Net Position are available. 

 
J. Operating and Non-Operating Revenues and Expenses 

 
Operating revenues are those revenues that are generated directly from the primary activity of 
the School.  Operating expenses are necessary costs incurred to provide the service that is 
the primary activity of the School.  All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are 
reported as non-operating. 

 
K. Pensions 

 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the 
fiduciary net position of the pension plans and additions to/deductions from their fiduciary net 
positon have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the pension 
systems.  For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) 
are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.  The pension 
systems report investments at fair value. 
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  2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

L. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
 

In addition to assets, the statements of financial position will sometimes report a separate 
section for deferred outflows of resources.  Deferred outflows of resources represent a 
consumption of net position that applies to a future period and will not be recognized as an 
outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then.  For the School, deferred outflows of 
resources are reported on the statement of net position for pension.  The deferred outflows of 
resources related to pension are explained in Note 8. 
 
In addition to liabilities, the statements of financial position report a separate section for 
deferred inflows of resources.  Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net 
position that applies to a future period and will not be recognized as an inflow of resources 
(revenue) until that time.  These amounts are deferred and recognized as an inflow of 
resources in the period the amounts become available.  Deferred inflows of resources related 
to pension are reported on the government-wide statement of net position.  (See Note 8). 

 
 
  3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 
The following information classifies deposits by category of risk as defined in GASB Statement No.3 
“Deposits with Financial Institutions, Investments (including Repurchase Agreements) and Reverse 
Repurchase Agreements,” as amended by GASB Statement No.40, “Deposit and Investment Risk 
Disclosures”. 
 
The School maintains its cash balances at one financial institution located in Ohio.  The balances 
are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up to $250,000, per qualifying 
account.  At June 30, 2015, the book amount of the School’s deposits was $4,790 and the bank 
balance was $5,375. 
 
The entire bank balance was covered by FDIC and therefore not considered to be subject to 
custodial credit risk.  The School had no investments at June 30, 2015 or during the fiscal year. 

 
 
  4. CAPITAL ASSETS 

 
 A summary of the School’s capital assets at June 30, 2015, follows: 
 

Capital Assets Being Depreciated: 
Balance  Balance 

6/30/2014 Additions Deletions  6/30/2015 
  Leasehold Improvements $339,078    $ 339,078 
  Computers & Equipment 149,361    149,361 
  Vehicles 111,100    111,100 
Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated 599,539    599,539 

Less Accumulated Depreciation (599,539)   (599,539)

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated Net $0 $0 $0  $0 
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  5. RECEIVABLES 
 
At June 30, 2015, the school had receivables in the amount of $483,844 which are amounts due 
from IMR.  In addition, the school is due monies from ODE in the amount of $152,397 for 
intergovernmental receivables.  Intergovernmental receivables consist of credit balances with STRS 
and/or SERS as well as federal assistance (CCIP) which eligibility requirements have been met 
(earned) at June 30, 2015, but the cash was not received by year end.  The remaining $4,107 of 
accounts receivables is amounts due from vendors. 

 
 
  6. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 

 
At June 30, 2015, the school had accounts payable totaling $166,024. $156,885 is due to IMR and 
$9,139 is due to various vendors during the normal course of conducting operations. 

 
 
  7. RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
A. Property and Liability 

 
The School is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and 
destruction of assets; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  For fiscal year 2015, the 
School contracted with WRM America for business personal property, director and officer 
liability and general liability insurance.  Director and officer liability coverage is set at 
$1,000,000, total loss.  General liability coverage provides $1,000,000 per occurrence and 
$3,000,000 in the aggregate with no deductible.  The WRM America also provides umbrella 
liability coverage of $3,000,000 per occurrence, as well as, in the aggregate. 
 
Settled claims have not exceeded this coverage in any of the past three years; however, there 
have been reductions in insurance coverage from the prior year. 

 
B. Employee Insurance Benefits 

 
As part of the management agreement with the IMR (see note 10), insurance benefits are paid 
by the Institute. 

 
 
  8. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS 
 

A. Net Pension Liability 
 

The net pension liability reported on the statement of net position represents a liability to 
employees for pensions. Pensions are a component of exchange transactions-–between an 
employer and its employees—of salaries and benefits for employee services.  Pensions are 
provided to an employee—on a deferred-payment basis—as part of the total compensation 
package offered by an employer for employee services each financial period.  The obligation to 
sacrifice resources for pensions is a present obligation because it was created as a result of 
employment exchanges that already have occurred. 
 

The net pension liability represents the School’s proportionate share of each pension plan’s 
collective actuarial present value of projected benefit payments attributable to past periods of 
service, net of each pension plan’s fiduciary net position.  The net pension liability calculation is 
dependent on critical long-term variables, including estimated average life expectancies, 
earnings on investments, cost of living adjustments and others.  While these estimates use the 
best information available, unknowable future events require adjusting this estimate annually. 
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  8. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 

Ohio Revised Code limits the School’s obligation for this liability to annually required payments.  
The School cannot control benefit terms or the manner in which pensions are financed; 
however, the School does receive the benefit of employees’ services in exchange for 
compensation including pension. 
 
GASB 68 assumes the liability is solely the obligation of the employer, because (1) they benefit 
from employee services; and (2) State statute requires all funding to come from these 
employers.  All contributions to date have come solely from these employers (which also 
includes costs paid in the form of withholdings from employees).  State statute requires the 
pension plans to amortize unfunded liabilities within 30 years.  If the amortization period 
exceeds 30 years, each pension plan’s board must propose corrective action to the State 
legislature.  Any resulting legislative change to benefits or funding could significantly affect the 
net pension liability.   Resulting adjustments to the net pension liability would be effective when 
the changes are legally enforceable. 
 
The proportionate share of each plan’s unfunded benefits is presented as a long-term net 
pension liability on the accrual basis of accounting.  Any liability for the contractually-required 
pension contribution outstanding at the end of the year is included in intergovernmental payable 
on both the accrual and modified accrual bases of accounting. 

 
B. Plan Description - School Employees Retirement System (SERS) 

 
Plan Description – School non-teaching employees participate in SERS, a cost-sharing 
multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by SERS.  SERS provides 
retirement, disability and survivor benefits, annual cost-of-living adjustments, and death 
benefits to plan members and beneficiaries.  Authority to establish and amend benefits is 
provided by Ohio Revised Code Chapter 3309.  SERS issues a publicly available, stand-alone 
financial report that includes financial statements, required supplementary information and 
detailed information about SERS’ fiduciary net position.  That report can be obtained by visiting 
the SERS website at www.ohsers.org under Employers/Audit Resources. 
 
Age and service requirements for retirement are as follows: 

 
  Eligible to Retire on or before Eligible to Retire on or after 
  August 1, 2017 August 1, 2017 
Full Benefits  Any age with 30 years of service credit Age 67 with 10 years of service credit; or 
   Age 57 with 30 years of service credit 
Actuarially Reduced  Age 60 with 5 years of service credit Age 62 with 10 years of service credit; or 
  Benefits  Age 55 with 25 years of service credit Age 60 with 25 years of service credit 
    
*Members with 25 years of service credit as of August 1, 2017, will be included in this plan. 
 

Annual retirement benefits are calculated based on final average salary multiplied by a 
percentage that varies based on year of service; 2.2 percent for the first thirty years of service 
and 2.5 percent for years of service credit over 30.  Final average salary is the average of the 
highest three years of salary. 
 
One year after an effective benefit date, a benefit recipient is entitled to a three percent cost-of-
living adjustment (COLA).  This same COLA is added each year to the base benefit amount on 
the anniversary date of the benefit. 
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  8. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (continued) 
 

Funding Policy – Plan members are required to contribute 10 percent of their annual covered 
salary and the School is required to contribute 14 percent of annual covered payroll.  The 
contribution requirements of plan members and employers are established and may be 
amended by the SERS’ Retirement Board up to statutory maximum amounts of 10 percent for 
plan members and 14 percent for employers.  The Retirement Board, acting with the advice of 
the actuary, allocates the employer contribution rate among four of the System’s funds 
(Pension Trust Fund, Death Benefit Fund, Medicare B Fund, and Health Care Fund).  For the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, the allocation to pension, death benefits, and Medicare B was 
13.18 percent.  The remaining 0.82 percent of the 14 percent employer contribution rate was 
allocated to the Health Care Fund. 
 
The School’s contractually required contribution to SERS was $33,891 for fiscal year 2015. 

 
C. Plan Description - State Teachers Retirement System (STRS) 

 
Plan Description – School licensed teachers and other faculty members participate in STRS 
Ohio, a cost-sharing multiple-employer public employee retirement system administered by 
STRS.  STRS provides retirement and disability benefits to members and death and survivor 
benefits to beneficiaries.  STRS issues a stand-alone financial report that includes financial 
statements, required supplementary information and detailed information about STRS’ fiduciary 
net position.  That report can be obtained by writing to STRS, 275 E. Broad St., Columbus, OH 
43215-3771, by calling (888) 227-7877, or by visiting the STRS Web site at www.strsoh.org. 
 
New members have a choice of three retirement plans; a Defined Benefit (DB) Plan, a Defined 
Contribution (DC) Plan and a Combined Plan.  Benefits are established by Ohio Revised Code 
Chapter 3307.  The DB plan offers an annual retirement allowance based on final average 
salary multiplied by a percentage that varies based on years of service.  Effective 
August 1, 2015, the calculation will be 2.2 percent of final average salary for the five highest 
years of earnings multiplied by all years of service. With certain exceptions, the basic benefit is 
increased each year by two percent of the original base benefit.  For members retiring 
August 1, 2013, or later, the first two percent is paid on the fifth anniversary of the retirement 
benefit.  Members are eligible to retire at age 60 with five years of qualifying service credit, or 
age 55 with 25 years of service, or 30 years of service regardless of age.  Age and service 
requirements for retirement will increase effective August 1, 2015, and will continue to increase 
periodically until they reach age 60 with 35 years of service or age 65 with five years of service 
on August 1, 2026. 
 
The DC Plan allows members to place all their member contributions and 9.5 percent of the 14 
percent employer contributions into an investment account.  Investment allocation decisions are 
determined by the member.  The remaining 4.5 percent of the 14 percent employer rate is 
allocated to the defined benefit unfunded liability.  A member is eligible to receive a retirement 
benefit at age 50 and termination of employment.  The member may elect to receive a lifetime 
monthly annuity or a lump sum withdrawal. 
 
The Combined Plan offers features of both the DB Plan and the DC Plan.  In the Combined 
Plan, member contributions are allocated among investment choices by the member, and 
employer contributions are used to fund the defined benefit payment at a reduced level from 
the regular DB Plan.  The defined benefit portion of the Combined Plan payment is payable to a 
member on or after age 60 with five years of services.  The defined contribution portion of the 
account may be taken as a lump sum payment or converted to a lifetime monthly annuity at age 
50. 
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  8. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 
New members who choose the DC plan or Combined Plan will have another opportunity to 
reselect a permanent plan during their fifth year of membership.  Members may remain in the 
same plan or transfer to another STRS plan.  The optional annuitization of a member’s defined 
contribution account or the  defined contribution portion of a member’s Combined Plan account 
to a lifetime benefit results in STRS bearing the risk of investment gain or loss on the account.  
STRS has therefore included all three plan options as one defined benefit plan for GASB 68 
reporting purposes. 
 
A DB or Combined Plan member with five or more years of credited service who is determined 
to be disabled may qualify for a disability benefit.  Eligible survivors of members who die before 
service retirement may qualify for monthly benefits.  New members on or after July 1, 2013, 
must have at least ten years of qualifying service credit that apply for disability benefits.  
Members in the DC Plan who become disabled are entitled only to their account balance.  If a 
member of the DC Plan dies before retirement benefits begin, the member’s designated 
beneficiary is entitled to receive the member’s account balance. 
 
Funding Policy – Employer and member contribution rates are established by the State 
Teachers Retirement Board and limited by Chapter 3307 of the Ohio Revised Code.  The 
statutory maximum employee contribution rate was increased one percent July 1, 2014, and will 
be increased one percent each year until it reaches 14 percent on July 1, 2016.  For the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2015, plan members were required to contribute 12 percent of their 
annual covered salary.  The School was required to contribute 14 percent; the entire 14 percent 
was the portion used to fund pension obligations.  The fiscal year 2015 contribution rates were 
equal to the statutory maximum rates. 
 
The School’s contractually required contribution to STRS was $246,000 for fiscal year 2015. 

 
D. Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 

Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions  
 

The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2014, and the total pension liability used 
to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.  
The School's proportion of the net pension liability was based on the School's share of 
contributions to the pension plan relative to the contributions of all participating entities.  
Following is information related to the proportionate share and pension expense: 

 
STRS SERS Total 

Proportionate Share of the Net  
  Pension Liability $2,716,184  $242,773  $2,958,957  
Proportion of the Net Pension 
  Liability 0.01116693% 0.0047970%
Pension Expense $347,114  $37,547  $384,661  

 
At June 30, 2015, the School reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions from the following sources: 
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  8. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 

STRS SERS Total 
Deferred Outflows of Resources: 
  Differences between expected and 
   actual experience $26,149 $2,066 $28,215 
  School District contributions subsequent to the  
   measurement date 246,000 33,891 279,891 
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources $272,149 $35,957 $308,106 
Deferred Inflows of Resources: 
  Net difference between projected and 
   actual earnings on pension plan investments $502,504 $39,403 $541,907 
  Change in proportionate Share 497,600 497,600 
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources $1,000,104 $39,403 $1,039,507 

 
$279,891 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pension resulting from School 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net 
pension liability in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2016.  Other amounts reported as deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pension will be recognized in 
pension expense as follows: 

 
STRS SERS Total 

Fiscal Year Ending June 30:     
2016 ($243,489) ($9,334)  ($252,823) 
2017 (243,489) (9,334)  (252,823) 
2018 (243,489) (9,334)  (252,823) 
2019 (243,488) (9,335)  (252,823) 

 ($973,955) ($37,337)  ($1,011,292) 
 

E. Actuarial Assumptions - SERS 
 

SERS’ total pension liability was determined by their actuaries in accordance with GASB 
Statement No. 67, as part of their annual actuarial valuation for each defined benefit retirement 
plan.  Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported 
amounts (e.g., salaries, credited service) and assumptions about the probability of occurrence 
of events far into the future (e.g., mortality, disabilities, retirements, employment termination).  
Actuarially determined amounts are subject to continual review and potential modifications, as 
actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the 
future. 
 
Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the 
plan as understood by the employers and plan members) and include the types of benefits 
provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing benefit costs 
between the employers and plan members to that point.  The projection of benefits for financial 
reporting purposes does not explicitly incorporate the potential effects of legal or contractual 
funding limitations. 
 
Actuarial calculations reflect a long-term perspective.  For a newly hired employee, actuarial 
calculations will take into account the employee’s entire career with the employer and also take 
into consideration the benefits, if any, paid to the employee after termination of employment 
until the death of the employee and any applicable contingent annuitant.  In many cases 
actuarial calculations reflect several decades of service with the employer and the payment of 
benefits after termination. 
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  8. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 

Key methods and assumptions used in calculating the total pension liability in the latest 
actuarial valuation, prepared as of June 30, 2014, are presented below: 

 
Wage Inflation 3.25 percent 
Future Salary Increases, including inflation 4.00 percent to 22 percent 
COLA or Ad Hoc COLA 3.00 percent 
Investment Rate of Return 7.75 percent net of investments expense, including inflation 
Actuarial Cost method Entry Age Normal 
 

For post-retirement mortality, the table used in evaluating allowances to be paid is the 1994 
Group Annuity Mortality Table set back one year for both men and women.  Special mortality 
tables are used for the period after disability retirement. 

 
 The most recent experience study was completed June 30, 2010. 

 
The long-term return expectation for the Pension Plan Investments has been determined using 
a building-block approach and assumes a time horizon, as defined in SERS’ Statement of 
Investment Policy.  A forecasted rate of inflation serves as the baseline for the return 
expectation.  Various real return premiums over the baseline inflation rate have been 
established for each asset class.  The long-term expected nominal rate of return has been 
determined by calculating a weighted averaged of the expected real return premiums for each 
asset class, adding the projected inflation rate, and adding the expected return from 
rebalancing uncorrelated asset classes.  The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic 
real rates of return for each major assets class are summarized in the following table: 

 
 Target  Long-Term Expected  
Asset Class Allocation  Real Rate of Return  
Cash 1.00 % 0.00 % 
US Stocks 22.50  5.00  
Non-US Stocks 22.50  5.50  
Fixed Income 19.00  1.50  
Private Equity 10.00  10.00  
Real Assets 10.00  5.00  
Multi-Asset Strategies 15.00  7.50  
 100.00 %   

 
Discount Rate - The total pension liability was calculated using the discount rate of 7.75 
percent.  The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed the 
contributions from employers and from the members would be computed based on 
contribution requirements as stipulated by State statute.  Projected inflows from investment 
earning were calculated using the long-term assumed investment rate of return (7.75 
percent).  Based on those assumptions, the plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be 
available to make all future benefit payments of current plan members.  Therefore, the long-
term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of 
projected benefits to determine the total pension liability. 
 
Sensitivity of the School's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes 
in the Discount Rate - Net pension liability is sensitive to changes in the discount rate, and 
to illustrate the potential impact the following table presents the net pension liability calculated 
using the discount rate of 7.75 percent, as well as what each plan’s net pension liability would 
be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower (6.75 
percent), or one percentage point higher (8.75 percent) than the current rate. 



RICHARD ALLEN ACADEMY II COMMUNITY SCHOOL 
MONTGOMERY COUNTY 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2015 
(Continued) 

 

25 

  8. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 

  Current   
 1% Decrease Discount Rate  1% Increase
 (6.75%) (7.75%)  (8.75%) 
School’s proportionate share of     
  the net pension liability $346,366 $242,773  $155,644 

 
 F. Actuarial Assumptions - STRS 
 

The total pension liability in the June 30, 2014, actuarial valuation was determined using the 
following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 

 
Inflation  2.75 percent 
Projected salary increase  2.75 percent at 70 to 12.25 percent at age 20 
Investment Rate of Return  7.75 percent, net of investment expenses 
Cost-of-Living Adjustments (COLA)  2.00 percent simple applied as follows:  for members retiring before
    August, 1, 2013, 2 percent per year, for members retiring  
    August 1, 2013, or later, 2 percent COLA paid on fifth anniversary
    of retirement date. 
 

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table (Projection 2022—Scale 
AA) for Males and Females.  Males’ ages are set-back two years through age 89 and no set-
back for age 90 and above.  Females younger than age 80 are set back four years, one year 
set back from age 80 through 89 and not set back from age 90 and above. 
 
Actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2014, valuation are based on the results of an 
actuarial experience study, effective July 1, 2012. 
 
The 10 year expected real rate of return on pension plan investments was determined by 
STRS’ investment consultant by developing best estimates of expected future real rates of 
return for each major asset class.  The target allocation and best estimates of geometric real 
rates of return for each major asset class are summarized as follows: 

 
 Target  Long-Term Expected  

Asset Class Allocation  Real Rate of Return  
Domestic Equity 31.00 % 8.00 % 
International Equity 26.00  7.85  
Alternatives 14.00  8.00  
Fixed Income 18.00  3.75  
Real Estate 10.00  6.75  
Liquidity Reserves 1.00  3.00  
 100.00 %   

 
Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.75 percent 
as of June 30, 2014.  The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumes 
member and employer contributions will be made at the statutory contribution rates in 
accordance with rate increases described above.  For this purpose, only employer contributions 
that are intended to fund benefits of current plan members and their beneficiaries are included.  
Projected employer contributions that are intended to fund the service costs of future plan 
members and their beneficiaries, as well as projected contributions from future plan members, 
are not included.  Based on those assumptions, STRS’ fiduciary net position was projected to 
be available to make all projected future benefit payments to current plan members as of 
June 30, 2014.  Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments 
of 7.75 percent was applied to all periods of projected benefit payment to determine the total 
pension liability as of June 30, 2014. 
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  8. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 

Sensitivity of the School's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in 
the Discount Rate - The following table presents the School's proportionate share of the net 
pension liability calculated using the current period discount rate assumption of 7.75 percent, 
as well as what the School's proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is one-percentage-point lower (6.75 percent) or one-
percentage-point higher (8.75 percent) than the current rate: 

 
  Current   
 1% Decrease Discount Rate  1% Increase
 (6.75%) (7.75%)  (8.75%) 
School’s proportionate share of     
  the net pension liability $3,888,513 $2,716,184  $1,724,788 

 
 
  9. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 
 

A. School Employees Retirement System 
 

Health Care Plan Description – On behalf of the School, IMR contributes to the SERS Health 
Care Fund, administered by SERS for non-certificated retirees and their beneficiaries.  For 
GASB 45 purposes, this plan is considered a cost-sharing, multiple-employer, defined benefit 
other postemployment benefit (OPEB) plan.  The Health Care Plan includes hospitalization and 
physicians’ fees through several types of plans including HMO’s, PPO’s, Medicare Advantage, 
and traditional indemnity plans as well as a prescription drug program.  The financial report of 
the Plan is included in the SERS Comprehensive Annual Financial Report which can be 
obtained on SERS’ website at www.ohsers.org under Employers/Audit Resources. 
 
Access to health care for retirees and beneficiaries is permitted in accordance with Section 
3309 of the Ohio Revised Code.  The Health Care Fund was established and is administered in 
accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 105(e). SERS’ Retirement Board reserves the 
right to change or discontinue any health plan or program.  Health care is financed through a 
combination of employer contributions and retiree premiums, copays and deductibles on 
covered health care expenses, investment returns, and any funds received as a result of SERS’ 
participation in Medicare programs.  Active employee members do not contribute to the Health 
Care Plan.  Retirees and their beneficiaries are required to pay a health care premium that 
varies depending on the plan selected, the  number of qualified years of service, Medicare 
eligibility and retirement status. 
 
Funding Policy - State statute permits SERS to fund the health care benefits through employer 
contributions.  Each year, after the allocation for statutorily required basic benefits, the 
Retirement Board allocates the remainder of the employer contribution of 14 percent of covered 
payroll to the Health Care Fund.  For fiscal year 2015, 0.82 percent of covered payroll was 
allocated to health care. In addition, employers pay a surcharge for employees earning less 
than an actuarially determined minimum compensation amount, pro-rated according to service 
credit earned.  For fiscal year 2015, this amount was $20,450.  Statutes provide that no 
employer shall pay a health care surcharge greater than 2 percent of that employer’s SERS-
covered payroll; nor may SERS collect in aggregate more than 1.5 percent of the total 
statewide SERS-covered payroll for the health care surcharge. 

 
The School’s contributions for health care (including surcharge) for the fiscal years ended 
June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013 were $2,453, $431 and $535, respectively.  The full amount 
has been contributed for fiscal years 2015, 2014 and 2013. 
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  9. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued) 
 

B. State Teachers Retirement System 
 

Plan Description – The School, participates in the cost-sharing multiple-employer defined 
benefit Health Plan administered by the State Teachers Retirement System of Ohio (STRS) for 
eligible retirees who participated in the defined benefit or combined pension plans offered by 
STRS.  Ohio law authorizes STRS to offer this plan.  Benefits include hospitalization, 
physicians’ fees, prescription drugs and reimbursement of monthly Medicare Part B premiums.  
The Plan is included in the report of STRS which can be obtained by visiting www.strsoh.org or 
by calling (888) 227-7877. 
 
Funding Policy – Ohio Revised Code Chapter 3307 authorizes STRS Ohio to offer the Plan 
and gives the Retirement Board authority over how much, if any, of the health care costs will be 
absorbed by STRS.  Active employee members do not contribute to the Health Care Plan.  All 
benefit recipients, for the most recent year, pay a monthly premium.  Under Ohio law, funding 
for post-employment health care may be deducted from employer contributions.  For fiscal year 
2015, STRS did not allocate any employer contributions to post-employment health care.  The 
School’s contributions for health care for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2015, 2014, and 2013 
were $0, $20,437 and $24,365, respectively.  The full amount has been contributed for fiscal 
years 2015, 2014 and 2013. 

 
 
 10. MANAGEMENT COMPANY AGREEMENTS 
 

In October 2013, the school has entered into a new management agreement with IMR.  The terms 
of the new agreement call for the payment of 94% of all state aid and 100% of federal grants.  The 
Board has also hired its own Treasurer to oversee payments to IMR and to assist it with financial 
oversight.  The table below shows the management company expenses for fiscal year 2015. 
 

 
2015 

Expenses: 
 Direct: 

Salary & Wages $1,164,594 
Benefits 20,674 
Food Service 9,236 
Health Insurance 139,518 
Property & Casualty Insurance, Workers Comp. 47,786 
Professional & Legal Services 1,833 
Purchased Services 175,383 
Repairs & Maintenance 21,495 
Supplies/Postage/Printing 2,926 
Telephone/Networking 882 
Utility 97,652 

Indirect Expenses: 
Overhead 442,465 

Total Expenses $2,124,444 
 

The administration expenses incurred by IMR are allocated to the four different Richard Allen 
Schools under its control.  These expenses are allocated to the individual school based on the 
student enrollment at each school to the total enrollment of all the schools. 
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 11. TAX EXEMPT STATUS 
 
The School completed its application and filed for tax exempt status under 501(c) 3 of the Internal 
Revenue Code and was approved for tax exempt status.  Management is not aware of any course 
of action or series of events that have occurred that might adversely affect the School’s tax-exempt 
status. 

 
 
 12. PENDING LITIGATION 
 

On October 18, 2010, the Institute of Management and Resources, Inc. (“IMR”), the management 
company of the School, filed a complaint for declaratory judgment and injunctive relief against the 
School, as well as the Auditor of State and Attorney General regarding findings for recovery issued 
by the Auditor in favor of the School. 
 
Institute of Management and Resources, Inc. v. Richard Allen Academy, Inc., et al. 
Montgomery County, Ohio Court of Common Pleas:  Case No. 2015 CV 05722 
 
On October 29, 2015, the Institute of Management and Resources, Inc. (“IMR”), the management 
company of the School, filed a complaint seeking reformation in equity of Section 3 of the 
management agreements between IMR and the Schools that were in effect from July 1, 2009 
through January 20, 2012. 
 
On January 8, 2016, the Court entered an Agreed Order of Reformation, reforming Section 3 of the 
management agreements in accord with the text of the second series of addenda and states that 
the reformation shall be effective July 1, 2009, through January 21, 2012. 
 
However, on March 7, 2016, the Auditor of State and the Attorney General (together, the "State") 
filed a motion to intervene, contending that they have an interest in this matter and seeking leave to 
file a motion for relief from judgment.  IMR and the Schools timely filed a memorandum in 
opposition, to which the state replied.  On May 18, 2016, the Court sustained the State’s Motion to 
Intervene and deemed the State’s Motion for Relief from Judgment filed on that date.  IMR and the 
Schools are in the process of preparing a Memorandum in Opposition to the same. 
 
The outcome of this case will have a material impact on the financial statements of the School, the 
exact amount of which is not known at this time. 

 
 
 13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

 
The Governing Board, of Richard Allen Academy II Community School served in the same capacity 
for the Richard Allen Preparatory, Richard Allen Academy I, and Richard Allen Academy III 
Community Schools for the fiscal year 2015, all of which are managed by the Institute of 
Management and Resources, Inc (IMR).  Total compensation to Board members was $5,900. 
Richard Allen Academy Community School shares its Superintendent and the Treasurer/CFO with 
the other three Richard Allen Schools named above.  The Superintendent is also the corporate 
Secretary for IMR.  The Treasurer/CFO is not an employee of IMR (nor has no other affiliation with 
IMR) and has a separate contract with the Board. 
 
The School pays IMR a management fee of ninety-four percent (94%) of the state revenue of the 
School after a deduction of SERS, STRS, and audit adjustments.  The School pays IMR another 
one hundred percent (100%) of grant expenses incurred on behalf of the School.  See Note 10.  
The School has a note payable due to IMR.  (See Note 14). 
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 14. NOTES PAYABLE 
 

At June 30, 2015, the School had outstanding notes payable to IMR of $12,500.  These notes were 
originally required to be repaid from operating revenue by December 31, 2012, unless extended by 
the two parties.  The repayment of the notes has subsequently been extended until payment is 
required by IMR.  The loans do not contain any provision for interest. 
 
A summary of School’s Notes Payable obligations for the year are as follows: 

  Beginning    Ending 
Note Payable  Balance Additions Deletions  Balance 
  Operating Loan - IMR  $12,500 $0 $0  $12,500 
Total Notes Payable  $12,500 $0 $0  $12,500 

 
 
 15. LINE OF CREDIT 

 
Charter School Capital - In May 2015, the school entered into an agreement with Charter School 
Capital to borrow against its future foundation payments.  The amount borrowed was $267,800 
including Bond Discounts of $8,596 amortizable over the life of the agreement and program fees of 
$5,356.  The terms of the loan are 2 equal installments at $133,900 payable in July and 
August 2016.  Below is the summary of the obligation: 

 Outstanding Outstanding 
 Balance Balance 

Description  June 30, 2014 Additions Reductions June 30, 2015 
Line of Credit  $0 $259,204 $0 $259,204 

 
Additionally, the school has entered into similar agreements with Charter School Capital to borrow 
against its future foundation payments subsequent to year end.  All subsequent agreements are 
similarly structured as 2-3 month discounted agreements. 

 
 
 16. CONTINGENCIES 

 
A. Grants 

 
The School received financial assistance from federal and state agencies in the form of 
grants.  The disbursement of funds received under these programs generally requires 
compliance with terms and conditions specified in the grant agreements and are subject to 
audit by the grantor agencies.  Any disallowed claims resulting from such audits could 
become a liability of the School.  However, in the opinion of management, any such 
disallowed claims will not have a material adverse effect on the overall financial position of 
the School at June 30, 2015. 

 
B.  Full Time Equivalency  

 
The Ohio Department of Education conducts reviews of enrollment and full-time equivalency 
(FTE) calculations made by the schools. These reviews are conducted to ensure the schools 
are reporting accurate student enrollment data to the State, upon which state foundation 
funding is calculated. The conclusions of this review could result in state funding being 
adjusted. As of the date of this report, ODE has not finalized the impact of FTE adjustments 
to the June 30, 2015 Foundation funding for the School; therefore, the financial statement 
impact is not determinable at this time. ODE and management believe this will result in either 
a receivable to or liability of the School. 
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 17. SPONSOR 
 

On July 1, 2015, the School entered into a five-year Sponsorship contract with the Ohio Department 
of Education (ODE) in return for three percent (3%) of all funds received by the School from the 
State of Ohio foundation payments.  Sponsor fee expense at June 30, 2015 totaled $70,958. 
 

 18. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES 
 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, the School has implemented Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions—an 
amendment of GASB Statement No. 27, GASB Statement No. 69, Government Combinations and 
Disposals of Government Operations and GASB Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for 
Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date - An Amendment of GASB Statement 
No. 68. 
 
GASB Statement No. 68 requires recognition of the entire net pension liability and a more 
comprehensive measure of pension expense for defined benefit pensions and defined contribution 
pensions provided to the employees of state and local governmental employers through pension 
plans that are administered through trusts or equivalent arrangements. 

 
The implementation of GASB Statement No. 68 resulted in the inclusion of net pension liability and 
pension expense components on the full-accrual financial statements.  See below for the effect on 
net position as previously reported. 
 
GASB Statement No. 69 addresses accounting and financial reporting for government 
combinations (including mergers, acquisitions and transfers of operations) and disposals of 
government operations.  The implementation of GASB Statement No. 69 did not have an effect on 
the financial statements of the School. 
 
GASB Statement No. 71 amends paragraph 137 of GASB Statement No. 68 to require that, at 
transition, a government recognize a beginning deferred outflow of resources for its pension 
contributions, if any, made subsequent to the measurement date of the beginning net pension 
liability.  The provisions of this Statement are required to be applied simultaneously with the 
provisions of Statement 68. See below for the effect on net position as previously reported. 

 
Net Position June 30, 2014 $240,784  
Deferred Outflows of Resources 308,374  
Net Pension Liability (3,520,762)
Deferred Inflow of Resources (622,000)
Restated Net Position, July 1, 2014 ($3,593,604)

 
Other than employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date, the School made no 
restatement for deferred inflows/outflows of resources as the information needed to generate these 
restatements was not available. 

 
 19. PURCHASED SERVICES 
 

For the period July 1, 2014 through June 30, 2015, purchased service expenses were for the 
following services: 

 
Management Services $2,363,779 
Certified Retirement 347,114 
Non-Certified Retirement 37,547 

Total $2,748,440 
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SCHEDULE OF FEDERAL AWARDS EXPENDITURES
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2015

FEDERAL GRANTOR Grant Federal
Pass Through Grantor Award CFDA
Program / Cluster Title Year Number Expenditures

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE
Passed Through Ohio Department of Education:

  Child Nutrition Cluster:
Cash Assistance:

     School Breakfast Program 2015 10.553 32,564
     National School Lunch Program 2015 10.555 128,328

Total Child Nutrition Cluster 160,892

   Fresh Fruit & Vegetable Program 2015 10.582 11,206
Total U.S. Department of Agriculture 172,098

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION
Passed Through Ohio Department of Education
   Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies 2014 84.010 17,556
    2015 84.010 317,840

Total  Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies 335,396

   Special Education - Grants to States 2014 84.027 2,788
     2015 84.027 64,950

Total Special Education - Grants to States 67,738

Improving Teacher Quality State Grants 2015 84.367 3,272

ARRA - State Fiscal Stabilization Fund (SFSF)
Race to the Top Incentive Grants 2015 84.395 33,299

Total U.S. Department of Education 439,705

Total Federal Awards Expenditures $611,803  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule.
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RICHARD ALLEN ACADEMY II COMMUNITY SCHOOL 
MONTGOMERY COUNTY 

 
NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF FEDERAL AWARDS EXPENDITURES  

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2015 
 

 
NOTE A - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The accompanying Schedule of Federal Awards Expenditures (the Schedule) reports the Richard Allen 
Academy II Community School’s (the School’s) federal award programs’ disbursements.  The schedule 
has been prepared on the cash basis of accounting. 
 
 
NOTE B - CHILD NUTRITION CLUSTER 
 
The School commingles cash receipts from the U.S. Department of Agriculture with similar State grants.  
When reporting expenditures on this Schedule, the School assumes it expends federal monies first. 
 
 
NOTE C - MATCHING REQUIREMENTS 
 
Certain Federal programs require the School to contribute non-Federal funds (matching funds) to support 
the Federally-funded programs.  The School has met its matching requirements.  The Schedule does not 
include the expenditure of non-Federal matching funds. 
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2014 2013
State Teachers Retirement System (STRS)

School's Proportion of the net pension liability (asset) 0.01116693% 0.01116693%

School's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) $2,716,184 $3,235,500

School's covered-employee payroll $2,043,654 $2,436,531

School's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset)
     as a percentage of its covered-employee payroll 132.91% 132.79%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 74.70% 69.30%

School Employees Retirement System (SERS)
School's Proportion of the net pension liability (asset) 0.00479700% 0.00479700%

School's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) $242,773 $285,262

School's covered-employee payroll $308,074 $334,509

School's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset)
     as a percentage of its covered-employee payroll 78.80% 85.28%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 71.70% 65.52%

(1) Information prior to 2013 is not available

Note: the amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the measurement date
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 

REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 
 
Richard Allen Academy II Community School 
Montgomery County 
184 Salem Avenue 
Dayton, Ohio  45406 
 
To the Governing Board: 
 
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States and the 
Comptroller General of the United States’ Government Auditing Standards, the financial statements of the 
Richard Allen Academy II Community School, Montgomery County, (the School) as of and for the year 
ended June 30, 2015, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
School’s basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated January 10, 2017, wherein 
we noted the School adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 68, Accounting 
and Financial Reporting in Pensions – an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27 and Government 
Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 71, Pension Transaction for Contributions Made Subsequent 
to the Measurement Date.  We qualified our opinion on the financial statements because the School’s 
Management Company did not provide adequate documentation to support information provided to the 
retirement systems, which was used to calculate the School’s proportionate share of its net pension 
liability. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
As part of our financial statement audit, we considered the School’s internal control over financial 
reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures appropriate in the circumstances to the 
extent necessary to support our opinion on the financial statements, but not to the extent necessary to 
opine on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control.  Accordingly, we have not opined on it. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, when performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and timely 
correct misstatements.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of internal control 
deficiencies resulting in a reasonable possibility that internal control will not prevent or detect and timely 
correct a material misstatement of the School’s financial statements.  A significant deficiency is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material 
weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all internal control deficiencies that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Therefore, unidentified material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies may exist.  We did identify certain deficiencies in internal control, described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings that we consider material weaknesses.  We consider findings 2015-
002 through 2015-004 to be material weaknesses. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of reasonably assuring whether the School’s financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, we tested its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements, noncompliance with which could directly and materially affect the determination of financial 
statement amounts.  However, opining on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our 
audit and accordingly, we do not express an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed instances of 
noncompliance or other matters we must report under Government Auditing Standards which are 
described in the accompanying schedule of findings as items 2015-001 and 2015-002. 
 
School’s Response to Findings 
 
The School’s responses to the findings identified in our audit are described in the accompanying schedule 
of findings. We did not audit the School’s responses and, accordingly, we express no opinion on them. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
This report only describes the scope of our internal control and compliance testing and our testing results, 
and does not opine on the effectiveness of the School’s internal control or on compliance.  This report is 
an integral part of an audit performed under Government Auditing Standards in considering the School’s 
internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dave Yost 
Auditor of State 
Columbus, Ohio 
 
January 10, 2017 
 

rakelly
Dave Yost
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS 

APPLICABLE TO THE MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY OMB CIRCULAR A-133 

 
 
Richard Allen Academy II Community School 
Montgomery County 
184 Salem Avenue 
Dayton, Ohio  45406 
 
To the Governing Board: 
 
Report on Compliance for The Major Federal Program 
 
We have audited the Richard Allen Academy II Community School’s (the School) compliance with the 
applicable requirements described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133, 
Compliance Supplement that could directly and materially affect the Richard Allen Academy II Community 
School’s major federal program for the year ended June 30, 2015.  The Summary of Auditor’s Results in 
the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs identifies the School’s major federal 
program. 
 
Management’s Responsibility 
 
The School’s Management is responsible for complying with the requirements of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grants applicable to its federal programs. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to opine on the School’s compliance for the School’s major federal program based on 
our audit of the applicable compliance requirements referred to above.  Our compliance audit followed 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards for financial audits 
included in the Comptroller General of the United States’ Government Auditing Standards; and OMB 
Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations.  These standards 
and OMB Circular A-133 require us to plan and perform the audit to reasonably assure whether 
noncompliance with the applicable compliance requirements referred to above that could directly and 
materially affect a major federal program occurred.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence about the School’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures 
as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 
 
We believe our audit provides a reasonable basis for our compliance opinion on the School’s major 
program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the School’s compliance. 
 
Basis for Qualified Opinion on Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies  
 
As described in Findings 2015-005 through 2015-009 in the accompanying schedule of findings and 
questioned costs, the School did not comply with requirements regarding the following: 
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Finding #  CFDA #  Program Name Compliance Requirement 
2015-005  84.010  Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies Cash Management  
2015-006  84.010  Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies Procurement, Suspension and 

Debarment 
2015-007  84.010  Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies Matching, Level of Effort, 

Earmarking 
2015-008  84.010  Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies Special Test Provisions – Highly 

Qualified Teachers and 
Paraprofessionals 

2015-009  84.010  Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies Allowable Costs/ Cost Principles 
and Period of Availability 

 
Compliance with these requirements is necessary, in our opinion, for the School to comply with the 
requirements applicable to this program. 
 
Qualified Opinion on Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies 
 
In our opinion, except for the noncompliance described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion on Title I Grants 
to Local Educational Agencies paragraph, the Richard Allen Academy II Community School complied, in 
all material respects, with the requirements referred to above that could directly and materially affect its 
Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies for the year ended June 30, 2015. 
 
Other Matters 
 
The results of our auditing procedures disclosed an instance of noncompliance which OMB Circular A-
133 requires us to report, described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as 
item 2015-010.  This finding did not require us to modify our compliance opinion on the major federal 
program. 
 
The School’s responses to our noncompliance findings are described in the accompanying schedule of 
findings and questioned costs.  We did not audit the School’s responses and, accordingly, we express no 
opinion on them. 
 
Report on Internal Control over Compliance 
 
The School’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over 
compliance with the applicable compliance requirements referred to above.  In planning and performing 
our compliance audit, we considered the School’s internal control over compliance with the applicable 
requirements that could directly and materially affect a major federal program, to determine our auditing 
procedures appropriate for opining on  each major federal program’s compliance and to test and report on 
internal control over compliance in accordance with OMB Circular A-133, but not to the extent needed to 
opine on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, we have not opined on the 
effectiveness of the School’s internal control over compliance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
preceding paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance 
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Therefore, we cannot assure we have 
identified all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies.  However, as discussed below, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control 
over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. 
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A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, when performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or to timely detect and correct, noncompliance with a federal program’s applicable compliance 
requirement.  A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material 
noncompliance with a federal program’s compliance requirement will not be prevented, or timely detected 
and corrected.  A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency or a combination 
of deficiencies in internal control over compliance with a federal program’s applicable compliance 
requirement that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.  We consider the deficiencies in 
internal control over compliance described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned 
costs as items 2015-005 through 2015-010 to be material weaknesses. 
 
The School’s responses to our internal control over compliance findings are described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.  We did not audit the School’s responses and, 
accordingly, we express no opinion on them. 
 
 
This report only describes the scope of our tests of internal control over compliance and the results of this 
testing based on OMB Circular A-133 requirements.  Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other 
purpose. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dave Yost 
Auditor of State 
Columbus, Ohio 
 
January 10, 2017 

 

rakelly
Dave Yost
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RICHARD ALLEN ACADEMY II COMMUNITY SCHOOL 
MONTGOMERY COUNTY 

 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

OMB CIRCULAR A-133 § .505 
JUNE 30, 2015 

 
1.  SUMMARY OF AUDITOR’S RESULTS

 
 (d)(1)(i) Type of Financial Statement Opinion  Qualified

(d)(1)(ii) Were there any material weaknesses in internal 
control reported at the financial statement 
level (GAGAS)? 

Yes 

(d)(1)(ii) Were there any significant deficiencies in 
internal control reported at the financial 
statement level (GAGAS)? 

No 

(d)(1)(iii) Was there any reported material 
noncompliance at the financial statement level 
(GAGAS)? 

Yes 

(d)(1)(iv) Were there any material internal control 
weaknesses reported for major federal 
programs? 

Yes 

(d)(1)(iv) Were there any significant deficiencies in 
internal control reported for major federal 
programs? 

No 

(d)(1)(v) Type of Major Programs’ Compliance Opinion  Qualified 
(d)(1)(vi) Are there any reportable findings under 

§.510(a)? 
Yes 

(d)(1)(vii) Major Programs (list): Title I Grants to Local Educational 
Agencies (CFDA # 84.010) 

(d)(1)(viii) Dollar Threshold: Type A\B Programs Type A: > $ 300,000  
Type B: all others  

(d)(1)(ix) Low Risk Auditee? No 
 

2.  FINDINGS RELATED TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
REQUIRED TO BE REPORTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GAGAS 

 
FINDING NUMBER 2015-001 

 
NONCOMPLIANCE 
 
Ohio Rev. Code §2921.42 (A), states, in part, that no public official shall knowingly do any of the 
following: 
 

(1) Authorize, or employ the authority or influence of the public official's office to secure authorization 
of any public contract in which the public official, a member of the public official's family, or any of 
the public official's business associates has an interest; 

(4) Have an interest in the profits or benefits of a public contract entered into by or for the use of the 
political subdivision or governmental agency or instrumentality with which the public official is 
connected; 
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FINDING NUMBER 2015-001 
(Continued) 

 
During fiscal year 2015, Michelle Thomas served as Secretary of Institute of Management and 
Resources, Inc (the Management Company) and as Superintendent of the School. The School 
electronically transferred $2,712,079 to the Management Company which included borrowed money from 
Charter School Capital to maintain cash flow for the Management Company during fiscal year 2015. 
 
The School’s administration and the Management Company funds were commingled and there were 
instances where the Management Company benefitted at the expense of the School.  The arrangement 
between the Management Company and the School is also in violation of Ohio Rev. Code §2921.42 as 
the management at the School has an interest in the affairs of the Management Company. 
 
The School should take appropriate steps to verify that its management is independent of the 
Management Company and policies and procedures are in place to detect and appropriately address any 
conflict of interest. Failure to do so could result in the School entering into contracts that might not be in 
the best interest of the School or the attending students.  A referral will be made to the Ohio Ethics Comm.
 
Official’s Response: 
 
 See page 54.

FINDING NUMBER 2015-002 
 
MATERIAL WEAKNESS/ NONCOMPLIANCE 
 
Ohio Revised Code Section 3314.03 (B)(5) requires and AOS Bulletin 2000-005 provides guidance 
indicating that the management of each community school be responsible for the design and 
implementation of an internal control process that provides reasonable assurance of the integrity of its 
financial reporting, the safeguarding of assets, and the efficiency and effectiveness of its operations, and 
its compliance with applicable laws, regulations and contracts. 
 
The following errors were noted that required adjustment to the financial statements: 
 

- 2015 Statement of Cash Flows: 
 

1. The School overstated cash payments to supplier of goods and services by $13,953. 
2. The School reported $267,800 in cash received from notes payable as cash flow from capital 

financing activities.  The line of credit was drawn to provide operating cash flow to the 
Management Company and should have been reported as $259,204 in cash flow from line of 
credit and $5,356 in interest and fiscal charges under cash flow from non-capital financing 
activities.  The remaining difference of $13,952 was part of the error noted in cash payments to 
supplier of goods and services noted above. 

 
- 2015 Statement of Net Position and Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net 

Position: 
 

1. The School presented a deficit of $2,971,604 in net position as retained earnings instead of 
unrestricted net position. 

2. An error in calculation of Accounts Receivable - IMR resulted in an overstatement of purchased 
services expense and an understatement of accounts receivable - IMR by $12,397. 

3. Accounts payable - IMR and purchased services expense related to overpayment of SERS and 
STRS contributions was understated by $41,738. 
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FINDING NUMBER 2015-002 
(Continued) 

 
Procedures should be developed and implemented to provide for the integrity of the financial records. 
Additionally, the amounts in the financial statements, notes to the financial statements, and 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) should be supported by appropriate documentation. 
Failure to establish these procedures could result in inaccurate financial reporting of the School's 
activities. 
 
Official’s Response: 
 
See page 54. 
 

FINDING NUMBER 2015-003 
 
MATERIAL WEAKNESS 

During 2015, the Richard Allen Academy Community School was selected by School Employees 
Retirement System’s (SERS) auditors as one of the schools in the State of Ohio for an examination of the 
completeness and accuracy of census data reported to the retirement system. The results of the testing 
were used by the SERS auditors to gain assurance that the census data reported by employers across 
the state was complete and accurate.  Gaining the necessary assurances regarding the completeness 
and accuracy of the census data is essential since the census data is used by SERS and its actuaries to 
calculate the plan’s net pension liability and the proportionate share for each employer contributing to the 
retirement system.  

The School’s Management Company did not provide auditors with a total payroll listing for all employees 
or the Management Company’s general ledger. This resulted in a scope limitation and inability of the 
School’s auditors to provide an opinion on the accuracy and completeness of the census data the School 
reported to the retirement system.  Additionally, without access to the necessary records, we were unable 
to gain the necessary assurances that all employees were properly enrolled in the State Teachers 
Retirement System (STRS) and the School Employees Retirement System (SERS), and the contributions 
amount reflected in the schedule of employer allocations accurately reflected the School’s contributions.  
Since the School’s proportionate share of the net pension liability and the related deferred outflows of 
resources, deferred inflows of resources and pension expense are based on the School’s employer 
contributions, we were unable to gain sufficient, competent audit evidence supporting these amounts as 
reported in the financial statements.  

The School’s Board should review and revisit the management company contract to verify that the 
Management Company is accountable for complying with all required federal and state requirements. 
Failure to do so could result in modification of the School’s opinion, additional audit cost and actions by 
the retirement systems against the School. 

Official’s Response: 
 
See page 55. 
 

FINDING NUMBER 2015-004 
 
MATERIAL WEAKNESS 
 
In May 2015 the School entered into an agreement with Charter School Capital, Inc. to borrow money by 
collateralizing its state foundation revenues.  The face value of the School's borrowing was $267,800 that 
was discounted by $8,596. Additionally, Charter School Capital, Inc. charged the School a program fee of 
$5,356. 
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FINDING NUMBER 2015-004 
(Continued) 

 
The School reported the face value of $267,800 as a "Note Payable" liability on the Statement of Net 
Position. 
 
The School should have reported the discounted amount of $259,204 as a "line of credit" liability when 
the funds were borrowed.  The $8,596 discount amount should be accrued as interest and fiscal charges 
at the imputed interest rate.  Additionally, the $5,356 in program fees should have been reported as 
interest and fiscal charges on the statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position instead of 
purchased services expense. 
 
The misstatements were determined to be material and the accompanying financial statements have 
been adjusted to correct the errors. 
 
Policies and procedures should be established and implemented to verify that the School correctly books 
and reports its debt activity.  Failure to do so could result in material misstatements on the financial 
statements. 
 
Official’s Response: 
 
See page 55. 
 

3.  FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS FOR FEDERAL AWARDS 
 

Finding Number  2015-005 

CFDA Title and Number Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies (CFDA 
#84.010) 

Federal Award Identification 
Number / Year 

2015 

Federal Agency United States Department of Education 

Pass-Through Entity Ohio Department of Education  

Repeat Finding from Prior 
Audit? 

Yes Finding Number? 
(if repeat) 

2014-009 

 
NONCOMPLIANCE AND MATERIAL WEAKNESS – CASH MANAGEMENT 
 
OMB Circular A-133 Subpart C § __ .300(a) requires an auditee to identify, in its accounts, all Federal 
awards received and expended and the Federal programs under which they were received.  Federal 
program and identification shall include, as applicable, the CFDA title and number, award number and 
year, name of the Federal agency, and name of the pass through entity. 
 
34 CFR §76.702 states that a State and a subgrantee shall use fiscal control and fund accounting 
procedures that insure proper disbursement of and accounting for federal funds. 
 
Due to the limitations of the Management Company’s accounting system, the Title I grant expenditures 
reported on project cash request (PCR) forms submitted to the Ohio Department of Education (ODE) for 
cash drawdowns could not be traced to the management company ledgers to verify that the expenditures 
related to the Title I grant.  For the PCRs reviewed, the following variances were noted between amounts 
reported on the PCR form and support provided: 
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FINDING NUMBER 2015-005 
(Continued) 

 
TITLE 1 - PCR 

DateE 
 PCR 

Expenditures 
School’s Actual 

Expenditures 
Overstated 

(Understated) 
January 2015  $108,236 $108,536 ($300) 
February 2015  123,833 124,509 (676) 
March 2015  144,467 145,143 (676) 
April 2015  204,271 204,380 (109) 
May 2015  223,946 221,355 2,591 
June/July 2015  317,841 317,388 453 

 
Additionally, deficiencies in the Management Company’s accounting system resulted in the following 
expenditures being claimed at the wrong time on PCRs: 
 

1. The School reported $13,398 in expenditure to Williams H. Sadler, Inc. on the September 2014 
PCR.  This expenditure was not reported on the federal schedule or the final PCR for 2015. 

2. August 2014 expenditure to Houghton Mifflin Harcourt in the amount of $700 was not claimed by 
the School until October 2014 PCR. 

3. The School reported $16,357 in September 2014 expenditure to McGraw Hill on the November 
2014 PCR. 

4. The November PCR also reported an expenditure in amount of $4,000 to Hamilton County ESC 
that was not made until January 1, 2015 

5. The January 2015 PCR reported $108 in expenditure to Neon that was made in August 2014 
6. Even though the fiscal information on January 2015 PCR was as of December 31, 2014, the 

School reported $2,447 in expenditures that were not made until January 2015. 
7. The fiscal information on March 2015 PCR was as of February 28, 2015 and the School reported 

$918 in expenditures that were made in March 2015. 
8. The April 2015 PCR reported an expenditure in amount of $680 from September 2014 and $3,000 

in tutoring expenditures from November and December 2014. 
9. The May 2015 PCR reported one expenditure in the amount of $38 from January 2015 and three 

expenditures in amount of $1,168 from March 2015. 
10. The July 2015 PCR reported one expenditure in amount of $10,000 from January 2015 and one 

expenditure in the amount of $242 from August 2014. 
 
34 CFR 80.20 (B)(7) requires procedures for minimizing the time elapsing between the transfer of funds 
from the U.S. Treasury and disbursement by grantees and sub-grantees must be followed whenever 
advance payment procedures are used.  In addition, 34 CFR 80.21 (h)(2)(i)requires except for interest 
earned on advances of fund exempt under Intergovernmental Cooperation Act (et seq.) and the Indian 
Self-Determination Act ( 450), grantees and sub-grantees shall promptly, but at least quarterly, remit 
interest earned on advances to the Federal agency.  The grantee or sub-grantee may keep interest 
amounts up to $100 per year for administrative expenses. 
 
The following advance requests were not liquidated within 30 days of date of request: 

   Amount Amount 
  Advance spent not spent 

PCR Date  Request within 30 days within 30 days 
December 31, 2014  $15,769 $15,597 $172 

 
Policies and procedures should be implemented and established to verify compliance with the cash 
management requirements for federal grants.  Failure to do so could result in loss of federal grants and 
questioned cost in future audits. 
 
Official’s Response: 
 
See page 55. 
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Finding Number  2015-006 

CFDA Title and Number Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies (CFDA 
#84.010) 

Federal Award Identification 
Number / Year 

2015 

Federal Agency United States Department of Education 

Pass-Through Entity Ohio Department of Education  

Repeat Finding from Prior 
Audit? 

Yes Finding Number? 
(if repeat) 

2014-007 

 
NONCOMPLIANCE AND MATERIAL WEAKNESS – PROCUREMENT SUSPENSION AND 
DEBARMENT 
 
Federal Acquisition Regulation (FAR) Subpart 9.405(d)(1) requires contracting officers to review the 
System for Award Management (SAM)  exclusions, after the opening of bids or receipt of proposals.  FAR 
Subpart 9.405(d)(4) requires contracting officers to review the SAM exclusions again, immediately prior to 
award, to ensure that no award is made to a listed contractor. 
 
2 CFR Section 180.300 states that when you enter into a covered transaction with another person at the 
next lower tier, you must verify that the person with whom you intend to do business is not excluded or 
disqualified.  You do this by: (a) Checking the SAM Exclusions; or (b) Collecting a certification from that 
person; or (c) Adding a clause or condition to the covered transaction with that person. 
 
During fiscal year 2015 the School was unable to provide sufficient evidence to support its compliance 
with the above noted requirements under 2 CFR Section 180.300. 
 
The School should perform a verification of vendor eligibility, by conducting a SAM exclusions search, 
before payments are awarded from federal monies.  This would permit the School to document that 
vendors have not been excluded by the federal government.  Failure to conduct a SAM exclusions search 
could result in unallowable expenditures to vendors that are not authorized to enter into federal contracts. 
 
Official’s Response: 
 
See page 55. 
 

Finding Number  2015-007 

CFDA Title and Number Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies (CFDA 
#84.010) 

Federal Award Identification 
Number / Year 

2015 

Federal Agency United States Department of Education 

Pass-Through Entity Ohio Department of Education  

Repeat Finding from Prior 
Audit? 

Yes Finding Number? 
(if repeat)

2014-010 
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FINDING NUMBER 2015-007 
(Continued) 

 
NONCOMPLIANCE AND MATERIAL WEAKNESS – MATCHING, LEVEL OF EFFORT, EARMARKING 
 
34 CFR Section 299.5(a) stipulates that a Local Educational Agency (LEA) receiving funds under an 
applicable program listed in paragraph (b) of this section may receive its full allocation of funds only if the 
State Educational Agency (SEA) finds that either the combined fiscal effort per student or the aggregate 
expenses of State and local funds with respect to the provision of free public education in the LEA for the 
preceding fiscal year was not less than 90 percent of the combined fiscal effort per student or the 
aggregate expenses for the second preceding fiscal year.  This is commonly referred to as maintenance 
of effort requirement. 
 
Subparts (d) (1) & (2) further explain, in determining an LEA’s compliance with paragraph (a) of this 
section, the SEA shall consider only the LEA’s expenses from State and local funds for free public 
education. These include expenses for administration, instruction, attendance and health services, pupil 
transportation services, operation and maintenance of plant, fixed charges, and net expenses to cover 
deficits for food services and student body activities.  The SEA may not consider the following expenses 
in determining an LEA’s compliance with the requirements in paragraph (a) of this section: 
 

1. Any expenses for community services, capital outlay, debt service or supplemental expenses made 
as a result of a Presidentially-declared disaster; or  

2. Any expenses made from funds provided by the Federal Government. 
 
The Ohio Department of Education (ODE) performs the maintenance of effort computation for all Ohio 
LEA’s, including community schools.  ODE uses the Expenditure Flow Model (EFM) to report per-pupil 
spending for Ohio’s schools to capture LEA expenditure data necessary for the maintenance of effort 
computation.  The purpose of the EFM is to categorize and report expenses directly related to the 
education of students.  Pursuant to Ohio Administrative Code Section 3301-19-03, the LEA expenditure 
flow reports shall be derived from data collected electronically – including financial records that utilize the 
data coding structure of the uniform school accounting system (USAS) available on the auditor of state’s 
website – through the education management information system (EMIS) or any other reporting system 
designated for data collection by the superintendent of public instruction.  All city, exempted village, local, 
and joint vocational schools, educational service centers, and community schools will be required to 
submit the EMIS data necessary for the expenditure reports per deadlines established by EMIS 
procedures available on ODE’s website. 
 
During the review of the Spending Data Report, the following variance was noted between the Report and 
the School's accounting system: 
 
 

Instructional Expense 
Amount Per Spending Data Report $3,896,797  
Amount Per 2013 Trial Balance Report 3,800,096  
  Variance $96,701  

 
Additionally, the School District did not provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence in order to recalculate 
the Average Daily Membership reported to ODE for accuracy. 
 
The School should establish and implement policies and procedures to verify that all expenditures are 
reported correctly to the ODE.  Failure to do so could result in erroneous maintenance of effort 
calculations and noncompliance at state level. 
 
Official’s Response: 
 
See page 56. 
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Finding Number  2015-008 

CFDA Title and Number Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies (CFDA 
#84.010) 

Federal Award Identification 
Number / Year 

2015 

Federal Agency United States Department of Education 

Pass-Through Entity Ohio Department of Education  

Repeat Finding from Prior 
Audit? 

Yes Finding Number? 
(if repeat) 

2014-011 

 
NONCOMPLIANCE AND MATERIAL WEAKNESS – SPECIAL TESTS AND PROVISIONS – HIGHLY 
QUALIFIED TEACHERS AND PARAPROFESSIONALS 
 
34 CFR Section 200.55 in part states that: 
 
(a) Newly hired teachers in Title I programs. 

(1) An LEA must ensure that all teachers hired after the first day of the 2002–2003 school year who 
teach core academic subjects in a program supported with funds under subpart A of this part are 
highly qualified as defined in § 200.56. 

(2) For the purpose of paragraph (a)(1) of this section, a teacher teaching in a program supported 
with funds under subpart A of this part is— 
  (i) A teacher in a targeted assisted school who is paid with funds under subpart A of this part;  
 (ii) A teacher in a schoolwide program school; or  
(iii) A teacher employed by an LEA with funds under subpart A of this part to provide services 

to eligible private school students under § 200.62. 
 
(b) All teachers of core academic subjects. 

(1) Not later than the end of the 2005–2006 school year, each State that receives funds under 
subpart A of this part, and each LEA in that State, must ensure that all public elementary and 
secondary school teachers in the State who teach core academic subjects, including teachers 
employed by an LEA to provide services to eligible private school students under § 200.62, are 
highly qualified as defined in § 200.56. 

 
The School maintained a list of Teachers and Paraprofessionals paid out of Title I funds.  However, the 
list did not include three employees paid out of Title I funds during 2015. Additionally, the School was 
unable to provide Highly Qualified Teacher documentation for seven out of 24 (29%) employees listed on 
the highly qualified documentation list.  Out of the remaining 17 employees on the list for whom highly 
qualified documentation was available, five employees (29%) did not meet the highly qualified 
requirements. 
 
The School should develop and implement policies and procedures to verify that required individuals 
meet and maintain the highly qualified teacher requirements. This will provide for the School hiring the 
most qualified teaching staff. 
 
Official’s Response: 
 
 See page 56.
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Finding Number  2015-009 

CFDA Title and Number Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies (CFDA 
#84.010) 

Federal Award Identification 
Number / Year 

2015 

Federal Agency United States Department of Education 

Pass-Through Entity Ohio Department of Education  

Repeat Finding from Prior 
Audit? 

Yes Finding Number? 
(if repeat) 

2014-008 

 
NONCOMPLIANCE AND MATERIAL WEAKNESS – ALLOWABLE COSTS/ COST PRINCIPLES AND 
PERIOD OF AVAILABILITY 
 
2 CFR Part 225 Appendix A Part C provides the following guidelines for expenditure to be allowable 
under federal expenditures: 
 
 Be necessary and reasonable for proper and efficient performance and administration of Federal 

awards. 
 Be adequately documented. 
 Not to be included as a cost or used to meet cost sharing or matching requirements of any other 

Federal award in either the current or a prior period, except as specifically provided by Federal law 
or regulation. 

 
Additionally, 2 CFR Part 225, Appendix B, Section 8(h)(3) states where employees are expected to 
work solely on a single Federal award or cost objective, charges for their salary and wages will be 
supported by periodic certifications that the employee worked solely on that program for the period 
covered by the certification.  These certifications will be prepared at least semi-annually and will be 
signed by the employee or supervisory official having firsthand knowledge of the work performed by the 
employee. 
 
Furthermore, Section 8(h)(4) provides, in part, that where employees work on multiple activities or cost 
objectives, a distribution of their salaries or wages will be supported by personnel activity reports or 
equivalent documentation which meets the standards in subsection 8.h.(5) of this appendix.  Such 
documentary support will be required where employees work on: 
 

(a) More than one Federal award,  
(b) A Federal award and a non-Federal award, 
(c) An indirect cost activity and a direct cost activity, 
(d) Two or more indirect activities which are allocated using different allocation bases, or 
(e) An unallowable activity and a direct or indirect cost activity. 

 
2 CFR Part 225, Appendix A, paragraph F.1 defines indirect costs as costs that are incurred for a 
common or joint purpose benefitting more than one cost objective, and not readily assignable to the cost 
objectives specifically benefited, without effort disproportionate to the results achieved. 2 CFR Part 225, 
Appendix C, paragraph D.3 states that all other local governments claiming central service costs must 
develop a plan in accordance with the requirements described in this appendix and maintain the plan and 
related supporting documentation for audit.  These local governments are not required to submit their 
plans for Federal approval unless they are specifically requested to do so by the cognizant agency. 
Where a local government only receives funds as sub-recipient, the primary recipient will be responsible 
for negotiating indirect cost rates and/or monitoring the sub-recipient's plan. 
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FINDING NUMBER 2015-009 
(Continued) 

 
In Ohio, the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Education has delegated this authority to the Ohio 
Department of Education's (ODE) Office of Federal and State Grants Management.  All districts 
recovering indirect costs must have a plan on file with ODE. 
 
Additionally, 34 CFR Section 75.703 states that a grantee may use grant funds only for obligations it 
makes during the grant period. In Ohio, programs included in ODE’s Consolidated Application have a 
project period starting with the application substantially approved date through June 30.  Any carryover to 
the subsequent School fiscal year must be approved by ODE.  Additionally, any budget revisions contain 
a substantially approved date which coincides with the date the revision request was submitted to ODE. 
Activities may not commence from that budget revision prior to the substantially approved date.  For 
Richard Allen Academy II, the substantially approved date for 2015 grant was July 15, 2014. 
 
The following exceptions were noted during our test of expenditures over Title I Grants to Local 
Educational Agencies: 
 

1. The Management Company allocated various expenditures to four Richard Allen Schools during 
fiscal year 2015. Four such expenditures totaling $6,845 were allocated to the Title I grant. However, 
the School did not have a plan approved by ODE to allocate indirect cost to the grants. One of 
these expenditures in the amount of $109 was obligated on July 14, 2014 which was one day 
before the substantially approved date.  

2. The Management Company paid $1,881 to send four employees to a professional development 
course. One of the four employees was from Richard Allen Academy II.  The School's share of the 
professional development course was $471.  However, the Management Company charged the 
School and the Title I grant $627 resulting in an overpayment of $156. 

3. The Management Company failed to provide documentation supporting payment of expenditures 
and/or invoice for expenditures totaling $14,680. 

4. In the 2014 final expenditure report, the School reported $17,556 in Title I expenditures that were 
obligated by June 30, 2014 but were spent in fiscal year 2015.  The Management Company did not 
provide any documentation to support these expenditures. 

5. The School received one invoice in the amount of $14,872 on September 3, 2015.  This 
expenditure was obligated on July 28, 2015 which is after the period of availability.  Additionally, the 
Management Company only made two partial payments on the invoice in the amount of $5,000 
each on November 13, 2015 and February 11, 2016.  The fiscal year 2015 Title I grant should have 
been liquidated by September 30, 2015. 

6. The School paid $23,600 in summer school stipends out of Title I funds. $11,800 of these stipends 
were paid for the pay period starting June 28, 2015 and ending July 15, 2015. 16 out of 80 hours in 
the pay period were before the period of availability end date of June 30, 2015.  Remaining 64 
hours or $9,440 were outside the period of availability and could not be charged to the 2015 Title I 
grants. 

7. The School charged $3,750 to the Title I grants for an administrative employee.  However, the 
School did not maintain any time and effort logs to support the amount charged to the grant fund for 
this employee. 

8. The School reported $57,837 in Title I salaries and benefits expense for Melissa Combs. She was 
reported as a Teacher under Richard Allen Preparatory Academy to Ohio Department of Education 
(ODE) per review of assignment data on educator profile on ODE's website.  Richard Allen 
Preparatory Academy also reported Melissa Combs as a certified staff to State Teacher's 
Retirement System (STRS). 

 
In accordance with the foregoing facts and pursuant to OMB Circular A-133 Section .510 (a)(3) a federal 
questioned cost in amount of $125,136 is hereby issued. 
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FINDING NUMBER 2015-009 
(Continued) 

 
To avoid potential loss of, or decrease of federal funding, policies and procedures should be established 
and implemented to verify that each employee working solely on a federal program completes semi-
annual certifications on a timely basis.  The semi-annual certifications should be an “after the fact” 
representation of the hours worked.  Therefore, these should be completed in a reasonably short time 
after the end of the period the certification is meant to cover.  All certifications should include full 
disclosure of the facts and should include credible signatures.  Employees working on multiple activities 
should complete time and effort logs documenting their time spent on each activity. 
 
Additionally the School should maintain adequate supporting documentation for all expenditures and 
procedures should be implemented to verify that only direct cost and cost associated with Richard Allen 
Academy II Community School is charged to the federal grant. 
 
Official’s Response: 
 
 See page 56.
 

Finding Number  2015-010 

CFDA Title and Number Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies (CFDA 
#84.010) 

Federal Award Identification 
Number / Year 

2015 

Federal Agency United States Department of Education 

Pass-Through Entity Ohio Department of Education  

Repeat Finding from Prior 
Audit? 

Yes Finding Number? 
(if repeat)

2014-012 

 
NONCOMPLIANCE AND MATERIAL WEAKNESS – ACTIVITIES ALLOWED OR UNALLOWED; 
ALLOWABLE COSTS/COSTS PRINCIPLES; CASH MANAGEMENT; MATCHING LEVEL OF 
EFFORT, EARMARKING; PERIOD OF AVAILABILITY; PROCUREMENT SUSPENSION AND 
DEBARMENT; REPORTING AND SPECIAL TEST PROVISIONS – HIGHLY QUALIFIED TEACHERS 
AND PARAPROFESSIONALS 
 
OMB Circular A-133 Subpart C Section .300(b) requires the auditee to maintain internal control over 
Federal programs that provides reasonable assurance that the auditee is managing. Federal awards in 
compliance with laws, regulations, and the provisions of contracts or grant agreements that could have a 
material effect on each of its Federal programs. 
 
The School's federal schedule reported $335,396 in Title I expenditures for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2015.  The School did not have appropriate controls in place and operating effectively over both 
payroll and non-payroll cash expenditures to prevent and detect material noncompliance. Lack of controls 
resulted in expenditures that were deemed unallowable per 2 CFR Section 225.  These issues have been 
reported in finding 2015-009.  Additionally, lack of controls were noted for the following compliance 
requirements in the Title I Grants to Local Educational Agencies:  
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FINDING NUMBER 2015-010 
(Continued) 

 
 Activities Allowed or Un-allowed 
 Allowable Costs/Cost Principles 
 Cash Management 
 Matching, Level of Effort Earmarking 
 Period of Availability 
 Procurement Suspension and Debarment 
 Reporting 
 Special tests and Provisions - Highly Qualified Teachers and Paraprofessionals 

 
Appropriate controls should be developed and implemented at the School level to verify that controls will 
be able to prevent and detect any material non-compliance over federal programs.  Failure to do so 
increases the likelihood of unallowable expenditures and material non-compliance with program 
requirements will be undetected. 
 
Official’s Response: 
 
 See page 56.
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Finding 
Number 

Finding 
Summary 

Fully 
Corrected? 

Not Corrected, Partially 
Corrected; Significantly 
Different Corrective Action 
Taken; or Finding No Longer 
Valid; Explain 

2014-001 Ohio Rev. Code §2921.42 (A) –conflict of 
interest 

No Repeated as finding number 
2015-001 

2014-002 §10 of the Management Company Agreement 
- Over-payments to Retirement Systems was 
utilized to pay the Management Company 
employee’s share of retirement. 

Yes  

2014-003 Ohio Rev. Code § 3314.03(B)(5) - Financial 
Statement Errors 

No Repeated as finding number 
2015-002 

2014-004 2CFR Part 225 Appendix A Part C – Child 
Nutrition Cluster questioned cost 

Yes  

2014-005 7 CFR § 210.14(c) – Special tests & Provisions 
– School Food Accounts 

Yes  

2014-006 OMB Circular A-133 Subpart C, §__.301(b) – 
Schedule of federal awards receipts and 
expenditures 

No Partially Corrected, repeated 
as management letter 
comment.  

2014-007 FAR Subpart 9.405(d)(1)– Procurement 
Suspension and Debarment 

No  Repeated as finding number 
2015-006 

2014-008 2 CFR Part 225 Appendix A Part C – Title I 
Allowable Costs/ Cost Principles questioned 
cost 

No Repeated as finding number 
2015-009 

2014-009 34 CFR 80.20 Section 6 & 34 CFR Section 
80.23 (a) – Title I cash management, period of 
availability and reporting requirements, 

No Repeated as finding number 
2015-005 

2014-010 34 CFR Section 299.5(a) – Title I Macthing, 
Level of Effort and Earmarking 

No Repeated as finding number 
2015-007 

2014-011 34 CFR Section 200.55 – Title I highly qualified 
teachers 

No Repeated as finding number 
2015-008 

2014-012 OMB Circular A-133 Subpart C Section .300(b) 
– federal grants’ internal controls requirement 

No Repeated as finding number 
2015-010 
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FINDING NUMBER 2015-001 

Official’s Response: We disagree with this finding and it should be removed in its entirety. To begin, 
note 10 states that the School pays the management company” 94% of State revenues and 100% of 
federal grants”. This contract is no different than other contracts used by EMOs around the state.  In such 
arrangements, EMO officials serve as officials of the school holding titles such as Superintendent, 
Treasurer, etc…  Furthermore, the Finding is inaccurate.  Dr. Thomas was not the secretary of IMR, nor 
was she an officer or director of the corporation.  Dr. Thomas is simply an employee of the management 
company who, pursuant to the agreements between IMR and the Schools, serves as the school’s chief 
administrator, overseeing its day-to-day operations.  While performing services at the school, pursuant to 
the management agreement, she goes by the title of “Superintendent.”  This is simply the title by which 
students, staff, parents, vendors and guests of the school refer to her.  She is not an employee of the 
school, nor does she receive any compensation directly from the school for the services she renders as 
“Superintendent.”  To the contrary, the only compensation that Dr. Thomas receives for the services she 
provides to the school is from IMR pursuant to her employment contract with the EMO.  The AOS has 
raised similar issues in past audits and has referred this arrangement to the Ohio Ethics Commission on 
several occasions.  However, to date, no state agency has found Dr. Thomas’ title or relationship with the 
school to be unethical, illegal or otherwise impermissible.  To infer breaking of the law by citing ORC 
2921.42 (A) is highly inflammatory and prejudicial against the Board and Ms. Thomas.  In reviewing 
audits of similar schools with similar contracts, the AOS does not site such a finding even when private 
litigation against the EMO has found irregularities.  Accordingly, we believe that the AOS is treating both 
Dr. Thomas and the school in a disparate manner. 

Auditor of State’s Conclusion: The Richard Allen Schools and the Schools’ management company, 
Institute of Management and Resources Inc. (IMR) are managed by the same group of individuals. 

Overpayments made to the Management Company during fiscal year 2013, 2014 and 2015 have been 
reported as accounts receivable – IMR by the Schools. Additionally, form 990 filed by IMR for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2015 listed Dr. Michelle Thomas as the Secretary and the only compensated 
employee under individual trustees or directors, institutional trustees, officers, key employees, highest 
compensated employees and former such persons.   

Similar findings have been reported in prior audits. Since the finding has not been corrected, it has been 
repeated in accordance with requirements in AU-C 265. 

FINDING NUMBER 2015-002 

Official’s Response: We disagree with the AOS interpretation of the management fee calculation and 
postings of the retirement system contributions to management fees.  The EMO is responsible for all of 
retirement system payment and subsequent liabilities (with the exception of the Treasurer), per the terms 
of the management agreement.  As such, all calculations related to the GASB 68 restatement and 
pension expenses were posted against management fees (as any calculations for the treasurer is 
deemed immaterial).  All overpayments and refunds are credited to the EMO in the school’s books and 
any payments from the retirement systems are forwarded in their entirety to the EMO. This treatment is 
consistent with other school’s booking of these fees as audited by the AOS.  

Relative to the other items, the school notes the misstatements on the statement of Cashflows and will 
work with the compiler to ensure that these items do not re-occur. 

Auditor of State’s Conclusion: The exceptions noted in this finding were based on the management 
company contract that required 94% of the state funding to pass through to the management company.  
None of the adjustments noted in this finding were related to GASB 68. 
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FINDING NUMBER 2015-003 

Official’s Response: This finding should be removed in its entirety.  All GASB 68 calculations are based 
upon a formula calculation given to the school from the retirement system.  As such, all amounts posted 
for Deferred inflows, Deferred Outflows, and Net Pension liabilities are estimates (refer to note 11). The 
School hired an outside CPA to calculate the effects of the pronouncement.  However, the AOS 
disagreed with those calculations and the corrections have been posted to the financial statements. Given 
the complexity and the newness of this pronouncement, any disagreements relative to their calculations 
should be put on the ML letter. All items specified in this finding are moot as the retirement systems has 
been given an unqualified opinion. Any amounts flowed through to the school from the retirement systems 
have been corrected by the AOS. Thus, any errors (if any) on the school’s books are immaterial.  

Furthermore, we feel that the qualification on our statements should be removed.  As previously stated all 
adjustments relative to calculation errors have been posted to the school’s financial statements.  The 
restatement of findings from the special audit have no bearing on the accuracy of these statements as all 
corrections have been posted to these statements.   

Auditor of State’s Conclusion: The School did not provide auditors with access to payroll and personnel 
records.  As a result, we were unable to determine whether the amount reflected as the School’s 
contributions in the schedule of employer allocations accurately reflected the School’s contributions.  
Since this amount is used to determine the proportionate share reported by the pension systems for the 
School, we were unable to gain the necessary assurances over the proportionate share of the net 
pension liability, related deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources and pension 
expense.  

FINDING NUMBER 2015-004 

Official’s Response: The school notes the misstatements and will work with the compiler to ensure that 
these items do not re-occur. 

FINDING NUMBER 2015-005 

Official’s Response: The school’s response is that the items listed in this citation are immaterial. Any 
variance between the PCR and FER are the result of year end final adjustments. This citation should be 
removed. 

Auditor of State’s Conclusion: The Auditor of State considers School’s inability to track and report 
federal expenditures to Ohio Department of Education as a material noncompliance and material internal 
control weakness in accordance with federal compliance requirements. This noncompliance was reported 
in the prior audits and the School has not taken any corrective action to comply with the grant 
requirements.   

FINDING NUMBER 2015-006 

Official’s Response: The school’s response is that this citation is inapplicable to this school.  The School 
has contract with the EMO for services. 90+% of the expenditures reported on the FER are payroll 
reimbursements to the EMO.  The rest were for classroom equipment or supplies. 

Auditor of State’s Conclusion: The School’s contract with its management company did not preclude 
the School from complying with federal grant requirements.  
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FINDING NUMBER 2015-007 

Official’s Response: The school’s response is that the school complied with the MOE provisions and the 
EFM is accurate.  When preparing the books for audit, the special ed funding paid through the foundation 
is included in the management fee.  THE AOS has not stated that it was to be separated out in the past.  
We will do that moving forward. 

Auditor of State’s Conclusion: The School did not provide auditors with sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence in order to recalculate the Average Daily Membership reported to ODE for accuracy.  The 
Auditor of State is unable to provide an unmodified opinion on matching, level of effort and earmarking 
requirements due to lack of supporting documentation.  

FINDING NUMBER 2015-008 

Official’s Response: This citation should be removed.  Changes in law have removed the HQT 
requirement when hiring. 

Auditor of State’s Conclusion: Highly Qualified Teacher and Paraprofessional requirements were 
applicable to the grants tested during this audit period and noncompliance with these requirements have 
been reported as such. 

FINDING NUMBER 2015-009 

Official’s Response: We disagree with this citation. We sought guidance and approval from ODE relative 
to running the summer school program. Expenditures for the summer school program are treated as 
obligated as of 6/30/16. We have until 9/30/16 to pay the expenditures.  This citation is repeated from the 
prior year. When ODE audited us the questioned costs were reduced to an immaterial level. 

Auditor of State’s Conclusion: According to 34 C.F.R. § 76.707, if the obligation is for personal services 
by an employee of the state or subgrantee, then the obligation is considered to be made when the 
services are performed. Since the summer school services were performed after the obligation period, the 
School did not comply with the period of availability requirements.  

FINDING NUMBER 2015-010 

Official’s Response: We disagree with this finding and it should be removed in its entirety. To begin, 
note 10 states that the School pays the management company “94% of State revenues and 100% of 
federal grants.” This contract is no different than other contracts used by EMOs around the state. In 
reviewing audits of similar schools with similar contracts, the AOS does not site such a finding even when 
private litigation against the EMO has found irregularities. 

Auditor of State’s Conclusion: The School lacked controls over federal compliance requirements that 
would timely detect and prevent any noncompliance. Lack of controls resulted in noncompliance with 
federal grant requirements going undetected. The management company contract had no bearing on this 
comment.   
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